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FOREWORD

Our research was designed to evaluate a portion of Rock
Island Arsenal, 1Illinois, for construction of the REARM
project; to survey the sites and structures on the Island:
to reevaluate its National Register nomination: and to
review the cultural resource potential of as much of the
rest of the Island as possible as a basis for future plan-
ning. The research required archival, documentary, survey,
excavation, and architectural evaluation techniques.

The architectural inventory provides a much more
detailed summary of the merit of the Island's historic
structures than previously has been available. Designation
of multiple resources with strong historical importance is
another category of resources that has not been previously
defined on the Island. The archival research was successful
in assessing the type and quality of documentation available
for the 1Island, both in local repositories and in the
National Archives in Washington, D.C. Several directions
for additional documentary research were defined.

The archeological survey and testing produced results
somewhat different from those we anticipated. Despite docu-
mentary references to use of the Island by native American
populations, reports by Civil War soldiers of surface-
collecting prehistoric artifacts, and reports of collecting
activities by contemporary Arsenal employees, only one
concentrated prehistoric scatter was found. The presence of
at least one prehistoric mound was confirmed, while addi-
tional suspected prehistoric locations (such as other mounds
and a shell midden) did not contain evidence of aboriginal
activity.

Archeological data likewise were scarce for the histor-
ic period. Documents, paintings, drawings, maps, photo-
‘'graphs, and written descriptions all suggested specific
locations where historic remains might be found, but testing
was largely unproductive. This probably is due to two
factors: (1) intensive use of space on the Island and the
military practice of "policing the area" have resulted in
the systematic razing of various structures from time to
time; and (2) enough of the surface of the Island is within
a few inches of bedrock that typical deposition did not take
place.

The historical archeological/ethnohistorical approach
used in this study has resulted in a more complete evalu-
ation of the historic period cultural resources of the
Island than could have been achieved independently through
either archeology or history. We also have tried to apply
solid management principles in focusing our attention on
those aspects of the Island that were in greatest danger of
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' impact in the foreseeable future. We feel a cooperative
model has been established between persons with cultural !
regsource concerns and those with the responsibilities for i
management of the Island’s military functions. Considerable |
research remains to be done on the Island; with further ;
cooperation, its unique heritage can be preserved as part of {
its continuing national function. i
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INTRODUCTION

The Rock Island Arsenal is located on an island in the
Mississippi River in the Quad Cities (Rock Island,
Davenport, Moline, and Bettendorf) area between Illinois and
Iowa (Fig. l). The Island was reported to have prehistoric
remains (Tillinghast 1898), to have been utilized by histor-
ic 1Indian groups (Black Hawk 1882), and since the Civil War
has been a major armaments manufacturing and testing facili-
ty for the United States Government. The survey and
research detailed in this report resulted from a need to
fulfill cultural resource management requirements prior to
initiating major new construction activities (REARM) at the

rsenal.

This report 1is largely descriptive in terms of the
buildings inventoried, the parts of the Island surveyed and
tested, and the archival resources assessed. Discussion of
the prehistory of the surrounding area and the history of
the Island is limited to that information necessary as the
background for the architectural, historical, and archeolog-
ical recommendations arrived at in this report. More de-
tailed historical, architectural, and archeological studies
will be warranted if landscaping or construction is carried ‘
out at any of the locations for which such research is ;
recommended.

Research was initiated almost iumediately after the
notification of award of contract #C53012(80), and an
initial meeting was held on 25 September 1980 in the Facili-
ties Engineering Office at the Rock Island Arsenal. Present
were members of the Illinois State University research team,
representatives of the Facilities Engineering Office, repre-
sentatives of various offices on the 1Island (security,
environmental, housing, historical, Corps of Engineers) who
would be involved in support, access, and coordination
aspects of the project, and Dr. Ann Johnson from Interagency
Archeological Service--Denver as the Contractor'‘s authorized
representative. This meeting established a coordinating

. committee to oversee the research and to provide channels of
: communication for resolving problems if they arose.

At this meeting, our basic strategy for completing the
local archival research first and then initiating the field
survey and testing was set forth. It immediately became
clear that some alteration of this plan was needed, since
the Arsenal already was stockpiling coal for the winter,
covering a large portion of the area to be surveyed for
‘ REARM. Survey and testing in this area (Fig. 1), therefore,

were carried out almost immediately. Dr. Ann Johnson and
Ms. Becky Boyd made one visit to the Island on 13 November
1980, while the field project was being carried out. In
addition, frequent telephone consultation was carried out,

1
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as coordinating various aspects of the project occasionally
turned out to be more complex than originally envisioned.

In total, our research on the 1Island consisted of
approximately one month of archival research (October) and
one month of field survey and testing (November) carried out
by Winifred Creamer and Henry Moy; Edward B. Jelks, Freder-~
ick W. Lange, David L. Carlson, and Charles R. Smith also
participated in this research on a rotating basis. Creamer
and Moy also conducted historical research in the immediate
Quad Cities area. The architectural survey was conducted by
Titus M. Karlowicz, principally during fall, 1980.

Funds for research outside the immediate area had not
been provided for in our original proposal, but as work
progressed, it became increasingly obvious that research
relevant to the Arsenal would have to include access to the
National Archives in Washington, D. C. Limited additional
funding made it possible for Creamer and Moy, assisted
initially by lLange and Jelks, to carry out an intensive week ;
of research at the National Archives in early December. The |
first two months of 1981 were devoted to integrating the
different categories of data, and preparing this report.
Additional data have trickled in from various sources since
December, and these have been integrated where appropriate.

In compiling this report, Frederick Lange has overseen
the total effort. The major part of the writing has been
done by Titus Karlowicz on the architectural survey, and
Henry Moy on the archival research, survey and testing
procedures, and results.




i

FY

C ad heman

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND OF ROCK ISLAND ARSENAL

Details regarding the prehistoric period on Rock Island
are scant. Shell middens with cultural debris (Tillinghast
1898; Nothstein 1940), burial mounds (U.S.A. Bureau of
Ordnance 1890), and accounts of individuals picking up arti-
facts (BHesseltine 1962:; Hauberg n.d.) all indicate that the
Island supported bands or even small villages of prehistoric
populations. Environmental data also suggest that during
the prehistoric and early (pre-Channel) historic periods the
Island was actually connected to the mainland during some
dry periods; even today it 1is accessible from adjacent
shores over the ice of wintertime. Such data change our
perception of a completely isolated reserve.

There is little doubt that Marquette and Joliet viewed
the Island while on their Mississippi River trek in 1673, and
later French traders operating on Credit Island just down-
stream from Rock Island probably visited the Island (Steph-
ens 1965:13; U. S. Government 1980:2). Zebulon Pike was the
first American known to have landed on Rock Island. His
1805 expedition was undertaken

+ « « for +the purpose of learning more about the
Mississippi River and adjoining territory, noting
sites for forts, smoking the peace pipe with the
tribes along the river, endeavoring to make peace
between the warring Sioux and Ojibway and keeping
a close watch upon the operations of the British
traders. . .{(Stephens 1965:25).

Pike is mentioned in Black Hawk's biography (1882); the
latter was "well pleased"” with what Pike had to say regard-
ing American friendship. During the War of 1812, the Fox
and Sauk joined the British against the Americans, and
according to Nothstein (Stephens 1965:30), Rock Island was
used as a protected retreat by the Indians. The nonuse of
Rock Island by Europeans and Americans up to this time may
well have been due to activities of the aboriginal popu-
lation. Not only was it a retreat but, as Black Hawk
described it, the Island was:

the best one on the Mississippi, {which} had long
been the resort of our young people during the
summer. It was our garden, like the white people
have near their big villages, which supplied us
with strawberries, blackberries, gooseberries,
plums, apples, and nuts of different kinds. . .
(1882).

After the War of 1812, the U. S. built several forts in
the West toO protect its interests. One of these was Fort
Armstrong, located on the western tip of Rock Island. It

4
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was built in 1816 by the 8th Infantry out of St. Louis led
by Colonel William Lawrence. The three blockhouses, the
walls connecting them, and the other structures within the
walls constituted the first permanent settlement in the
county. (A description of the fort as it appeared in 1834
is in Appendix 1II.) With the garrison came George Daven-
port who supplied the provisions and kept the post store.
He soon gave up this business and "engaged exclusively in
the Indian trade" (Stephens 1965:38). He built a large
frame residence which, abandoned around 1870, was partially
restored in 1902 and stands today in substantially altered
condition.

Tensions between the United States and the various
Indian tribes continued as white settlement increased.
These tensions culminated in the Black Hawk War of 1832.
Fort Armstrong provided a refuge for threatened settlers and
a base for U. S. military operations. In the years follow-
ing the cessation of hostilities, the need for the fort
became less acute. Settlement began on a large scale with
towns springing up on both sides of the Mississippi. During
this era of early settlement, Fort Armstrong was the scene
of the controversy surrounding the historic Dred Scott Deci-
sion. Apparently, Scott, a slave, was held at the Fort by
his master, Dr. Emerson, from 1834 to 1836. Inasmuch as
Illinois was a free state, the gquestion as to whether Scott
had been freed by his two-year residency became an indirect
cause of the Civil War.

On 4 May 1836 the garrison was transferred to Fort
Snelling, and Fort Armstrong fell into disrepair. 1In 1840,
some of the buildings were refitted and an arms supply depot
was established. Operations continued until 1855 after
which the Fort was for all purposes abandoned (Fig. 2). The
lack of federal oversight prompted squatters to lay claim to
tracts of land on the Island.

Sporadic attempts to remove them were seldom
successful. In addition to squatters, private
parties with legitimate claims had moved onto the
land. Congress had deeded three blocks of govern-
ment land to private groups: to Colonel George
Davenport for a house and farm; to David Sears for
a mill and waterpower dam; and to the Chicago,
Rock Island and Pacific Railroad for a right of
way connecting Illinois with the first railroad
bridge across the Mississippi--on the north side
of the Island (Tweet 1977:3).

Other businesses located there after Sears' power dam
was built in 1841, Their exploitation of the Island's
resources along with the individual squatters, caused
conflict with the War Department, which retained legal
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ownership of the Island. J. B. Danforth, agent for the War
Department, wrote to his supervisor:

The timber is being destroyed at a rapid rate;
rock is being quarried and taken away and the sand
useful for building is being carried off. Not
only has the property of the U. S§S. been greatly
injured, but it is being covered with the lawless
men, who exert a bad influence upon society. They
are erecting new and temporary houses, and contra-
ry to warnings given them, they are attempting to
acquire a right to the soil (Consolidated Corre-
spondence of the Quartermaster General, RG92, Fort
Armstrong file, September 1, 1859).

This conflict was not resolved until 1861 when the
government recognized eight leases to individuals and corpo-
rations. Thirty-day eviction notices were served on the
other occupants of the 1sland. The government planned to
purchase the lands belonging to those whose claims had been
recognized. Among these were David Sears (who had platted a L
part of his land as a Moline subdivision, Fig. 3), the
Davenport family, and Dimock and Gould, a paper-pail
manufacturer. By 1867, all claims were bought and the U. S.
had possession of the entire Island.

With the coming of the Civil War, the need for a west-
ern armory/arsenal was felt, especially after Harpers Ferry
Armory was captured by Confederate soldiers in April 1861.
A year of politicking by various interest groups followed,
and on 11 July 1862 Congress passed an Act for the Estab-
lishment of Certain National Arsenals, which provided
funding for "three arsenals of deposit and repair” located
at Columbus, Ohio, Indianapolis, Indiana, and Rock Island.
This was compromise 1legislation satisfying the various
interest groups who wanted the arsenal located in their
respective states, and "disturbed the dreams of those in the
Ordnance Department who had imagined a Harpers Ferry of the
West on Rock Island" (Tweet 1977:3). These dreams were
realized, however, with an Act of Congress in April of 1864
which designated the arsenal at Rock 1sland as one of
CONSTRUCTION, deposit and repair. "“Construction" inferred a
much larger complex with armament manufacturing capabilities
not included in the 1862 legislation.

Meanwhile, the building of the arsenal of "deposit and
repair” had begun in spring, 1863, under Major C. P. Kings-
bury. Even then, he looked forward to a "National Armory
and Foundry . . . to meet the military wants of the vast
valley of the Mississippi” (Letters Sent to Chief of
Ordnance, 8 October 1863). Kingsbury oversaw the
| construction of the first building, a limestone warehouse at
‘ the western tip of the Island near the railroad crossing of
the Mississippi River. When the 1864 Act gave the Ordnance
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Department the opportunity to plan a more extensive arsenal,
Geaneral Thomas J. Rodman was sent to Rock Island.

During this same period, the Quartermaster Department,
under instructions from the War Department’s Commissary
General of Prisoners, ‘had constructed a prisoner of war camp
for captured Confederate soldiers on the north central part
of the Island (Fig. 4). Built to hold up to 12,000 prison-
ers, the only visible remains "of this prison today is the
Confederate cemetery where nearly 2,000 Confederate soldiers
are buried" (Thompson 1973:3). Research in the Arsenal's
photographic files revealed an interesting insight into the
Confederate cemetery. A picture taken around 1900 (Fig. 5)
shows only occasional grave markers. A 1969 photo (Fig. 6)
shows that the neat rows of tombstones currently seen d4id
not appear until sometime in the present century. Bouilly
(personal communication) has found that the tombstones were
not installed until after World War 1, a common national
experience that finally made it politically possible to
honor Civil War dead. Figures 7 - 19 show scenes of this
camp drawn by Lembech (1863).

The building of the 1large "arsenal of construction"
began with the arrival of Rodman. He designed

« « « a manufacturing complex of ten very large
shops in the middle of the Island rather than at
the western end as the previous plans had called
for. The shop complex in the middle of the Island
allowed for expansion of the shops and also placed
them within reach of a dam designed to provide
waterpower to the shops. These ten shops and the
dam became the core of the Arsenal (Bouilly
1980:7).

Construction began in 1866 and continued well into the
18908, through Rodman'’'s command and that of his successors,
Captain Daniel ‘Webster Flagler (1871-1886), Colonel J. G.
Baylor (1886-1889), and Colonel J. M. Whittemore

(1889-1892). Objectives and details of different
construction phases are discussed in the "Architectural
Inventory" section. Much of the Arsenal's construction

needs--trusses, frames, machinery shafts, locks, stair-
ways--was designed and built in the Arsenal shops. Interior
fittings and furniture for the various private gquarters also
were made on the Island.

Cermtais el hedta 2l ar -

Production at the Arsenal began almost  as soon as
construction started, and

. -

As early as the 1869 Report of the Chief of Ord-
nance, the Rock Island Arsenal reported
that . . . it had cleaned and packed 55,361 pieces
of infantry accoutrements, 36,340 pieces of horse

T T e e 4 e g o
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Fig 5 Confederate Cemetery, photograph taken ca. 1900
(File Photograph, ARRCOM Historical Office, Rock
Island).
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Fig. 6 Confederate Cemetery, photograph taken 1969
(File Photograph, ARRCOM Historical Office,
Rock Island).
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equipment and 503 sets of artillery harnesses.
This was strictly handwork and typically a depot
function which required 1little if any machinery
(Bouilly 1980:8).

By 1875 Rock Island Arsenal supplied nearly all the ordnance
stores required for the Army in the West, and manufacturing
had begun.

Over the next decade, production of harnesses, light
equipment for soldiers, and gun carriages was the Arsenal's
responsibility. The Spanish-American War "brought a tremen-
dous spurt of activity to the Arsenal. Employment reached a
peak of 2900. . . . During the War the Arsenal gained no
new functions" (Bouilly 1980:10). However, the war had
revealed the need for an increased capacity to manufacture
small arms, especially rifles. Also, a larger standing army
for the U. S. was being approved and equipping these new
troops was required. Rock Island's manufacturing capabili-
ties were used to meet this need. Three shops were
refurbished for the manufacture of rifles (Rock Island
Argus, 30 January 1900:5), supplementing those made at other
federal manufactories, notably Springfield Armory in Massa-
chusetts.

With the onset of World War I, activities included the
assembling and locading of shells, but this was stopped after
the war, perhaps due to the danger presented to the Quad
Cities area (Wickstrom 1943:6; Rock Island Argus, 12 March
1919:5). Employment at the Arsenal reached 13,400, and its
facilities were used to capacity. After the war, employment
dropped dramatically, but the duties of the Arsenal contin-
ued and even expanded to include that of advisor to various
industries which were being trained to handle ordnance manu-
facture in the event of future wars.

The clouds of potential world conflict and the declara-
tion of the National Emergency Act in 1939 caused increased
activity, noticeably in the Arsenal's function as a depot.
“Approximately 135,000 items were stocked for issue, and
close to 2,000 orders were shipped weekly to locations all
over the globe. . . . {Elmployment had climbed from 155 to
nearly 5,000 in the depot department" (Miller 1971:3). The
increase in this and other activities and the drafting of
men for the armed services also brought women into the Arse-
nal's work force.

Rl S . 2 O

Total nonmilitary employment rose from 2,735 in 1939 to
18,675 in 1943, and included handicapped persons, boys aged
16~18 and, in 1944, several hundred Italian prisoners of
war. Rock 1Island Arsenal acted as a procurement headquar-
ters and distribution center as well as a manufactory.
Training programs were developed in all areas to educate the
new workers. During the four years of World wWar II,
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«+ + « Jimmense quantities of all types of artil-
lery and small arms equipment, loading machines
for the Navy and enormous quantities of spare
parts for all types of military equipment were
produced at the Arsenal. In addition, large quan-
tities of various kinds of artillery, automotive
equipment, small arms, sighting and fire control
instruments, and many miscellaneous items were
overhauled or modified. Research and development
projects on all these weapons and weapon compo-
nents had been carried on at the Arsenal
throughout the War, a period . . . unsurpassed in
the history of Rock Island Arsenal. . .{(Miller
1971:18).

The end of World War II in 1945 saw employment drop
from its high of over 18,000 to only "4,458 by January,
1946, and 2,469 by July, 1947" (Miller 197i:19). The Arse-
nal's major duties continued, including the overhauling and
storing of equipment, some manufacturing for the Navy, and
the assembling of light equipment.

The Korean conflict caused employment to increase and
equipment manufacture included "various rocket launchers,
range finders, Navy missiles, loader rammers, mortars,
aircraft catapults, machine-gun barrels, targets, gun
covers, spare parts for small arms and artillery, carriages,
and automotive vehicles, and paracrates and paracaissons”
(Nothstein 1965:489).

The end of the fighting again reduced the personnel
levels, although the Arsenal's many activities continued.
The Arsenal was therefore prepared for the Vietnamese
conflict, and few changes in the complex were necessary.
Currently, the mission of Rock Island Arsenal is:

manufacturing of assigned material and its
required direct support which includes engineering
and product assurance; to perform tool set, On
Equipment Materiel, and Basic Issue Items (BII)
assembly for the U. S. Army Armament Materiel
Readiness Command (ARRCOM), u. S. Army
Tank-Automotive Materiel Readiness Command
(TARCOM), and other national inventory control
points as required; and to provide administrative,
logistical, and facilities support services to
Rock Island Arsenal (RIA), Headquarters (HQ)
ARRCOM, and tenant activities (Harland Bartholomew
and Associates 1980:3).

In this historical reconstruction of activities at the
Arsenal, changes and shifts in manufacturing needs and
patterns are clearly seen. Changes in manufacturing have
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influenced land use patterns, and modern usage has also been
instrumental in the building of dikes, levees, and other
flood control features. All of these land use activities
have been intensive on the limited surface of the Island,
and have combined to erase numerous prehistoric and historic
resources which must have been on the Island at one time.
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ARCHEOLOGICAL, ARCHITECTURAL, AND
HISTORICAL RESEARCH ACTIVITIES
FALL 1980

Documentary Research

Documentary research was carried out in the Rock Island
area and in Washington, D. C. Most important among these
resources were the documents, maps, and histories in the
ARRCOM Historical Office; the microfilms and file materials
of the John M. Browning Museum at the Arsenal:; the Hauberg
Collection of the Denkmann Library at Augustana College in
Rock Island; and the National Archives in Washington, D. C.

Detailed assessments of these and other archival souilc-
es utilized during the project are found in Appendi.. I.
Because of scheduling, the information from the National
Archives could not be obtained until the field research on
the Island was effectively completed; these resources did
not enter into the design and execution of the architectural
assessment and archeological survey. However, the maps and
documents of the local sources on Arsenal Island and in the
Quad Cities area were instrumental in helping to identify
focal points for research during the survey.

The documentary research resulted in preparation of
five working maps prior to field research (with the excep-
tion of the REARM area which, as noted previously, was
surveyed out of sequence because of coal stockpiling activ-
ities). These maps pinpointed areas of previously noted
locations of prehistoric and historic activity, and were
used in conjunction with Facilities Engineering long-range
planning maps to define priority survey areas. These
preliminary data are summarized in Figures 20, prehistoric
sites; 21, pre-Arsenal sites, to 1862; 22, Civil War sites,
1862-1870; - 23, Civil War to World war I sites, 1870-1920;
and 24, hazardous waste and dump deposits.

Field Survey

The island of Rock Island includes approximately 906
acres, 424 of which are undisturbed by existing buildings or
pavement. The buildings were the focus of the documentary
research and architectural assessment, while the undisturbed
lands were the object of the field survey. Also removed
from consideration were limited areas on the Island where
the potential for hazardous waste or dump materials seemed
high (Fig. 24). While our initial objective had been to
survey the entire undisturbed portion of the Island, this
did not prove to be feasible because of time constraints.

28
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KEY TO FIGURES 21, 22 AND 23
(Sites Located Through Archival Research)

Pre-Arsenal Sites (1816-1875)
(Fig. 21)

Fort Armstrong (Rock 1Island Daily Union 1915)-~test
trench and surface collection; see Appendix 11 for
artifacts recovered

"Winfield Scott's Headquarters" (Rock Island Daily

Union 1915)--Eichhorn's work; no findings

First Bridge Across the Mississippi (Rock Island Daily
Union 1915; Gordon 1866; Gronen 1870)--Marker Site near
Davenport House

Davenport House, Davenport Grant (Rock Island Daily
Union 1915) and outbuildings (Lee 1837); shaded area is
the developed part of the tract (Gronen
1870)~-surface-collected in this area

Structures (Map of the Rock Island Dbridge
1859 )~~-shoreline survey, no sites identified

Sears Tract (Plat of Rock Island Ill's, Flagler 1877;
Rock Island Daily Union 1915; shaded)--east end firing
range survey. No sites located.

Industrial Area, including

Dimmock and Gould tub and pail factory (Gordon 1866;
Gould 1900; Rock Island Daily Union 1915)

Stevens, Ruggles and Co. woodenware factory (Rock
Island Daily Union 1915)

Tenement houses (Gould 1900)

S. H. Wite's sawmill (Gould 1900; Gordon 1866)
Shingle mill (Doran 1857)

Planing mill (Gordon 1866)

Factory boarding house (Rock Island Daily Union 1915)
and others (Gronen 1870; Gordon 1866; Doran

Shoreline and new bridge site survey; no sites located

Rock Island City development (Doran 1857--dashed
outline)--east end Firing Range survey. Never built;
no physical remains
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9. Farmstead (Doran 1857); no physical remains.

10. sawmill, planing mill, turning shop, bedstead manufac-
tory, finishing shop and warehouses (Gordon 1866;
Gronen 1870)~-no remains found

D. B. Sears' second sawmill and furniture factory (Rock
Island Daily Union 1915)--levee building

11. Structures (Flagler 1877 Plat of Rock Island, Ill's) in
Township 18N, Ranges I and Il West)-~no sites located

12. Structures (Lee, 1837 map)--none located.

13. Squatters settlements (J. M. Browning Museum's Rock
Island Arsenal, R. I., Il., n.d.)--none located

Civil War Period Sites (1862-1870)
{Fig. 22)

1. Prisoner of War Camp (Confederate prisoners--Gronen
1870 map:; Rock Island Daily Unio.. 5 July 1915:9).
Limited excavations failed to confirm presence of pris-
on remains.

2. Original Union Cemetery Site (U. S. Army 1979%:4)-- no
current surface indications

3. Union Hospital (U. S. Army 1979a:6)--no remains found
4. Pest Houses (Gronen 1870)--below modern building (XYZ)

Civil War to World War I Sites (1870-1920)
(Fig. 23)

1. 1906-1907 Locks--abandoned (USA 1979b:6)

2. Workers' housing~--WWI era (Jordan 1919 map)--under
hardlot, backhoe needed

3. Stables and cow barn (Rock Island Arsenal Fire Depart-
ment 1936)--still standing

‘ 4. Post stable or upper stable (Rock Island Arsenal Fire
Department map 1936; Map of Rock Island 1890)--no long-
er standing

5. Structure (Iowa Publishing Co. 1905); firing ground
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6. Structures (Iowa Publishing Co. 1905)--no sites located

7. Icehouse (Iowa Publishing Co. 1905)--possibly, mound
tested on golf course

8. Row of structures (Iowa Publishing Co. 1905)--no longer
standing

9. Post garden (Iowa Publishing Co. 1905; Huebinger Bros.
1900)--no current surface indications

10. Lower stables (Iowa Publishing Co. 1905; Map of Rock
Island 1890)--no surface indications

1l1. Surgeon's quarters (Map of Rock Island 1890)--no site
found

12. Hospital (Map of Rock Island 1890)--no site found

13. Gun yard (Map of Rock Island 1890)--below modern struc-
tures and Rodman Avenue

14. Structure (Map of Rock 1Island 1890)--not currently
standing

15. Hospital (Jordan 1919)--no site found
16. Laboratories (Jordan 1919)--under Building #299

17. Enlisted men's hennery--includes a well (Rock Island
Arsenal 1910)--hazard area

18. Temporary office building (Jordan 1919)--no 1longer
standing

19. Structures (Jordan 1919)--no longer standing

20. Ice plant (Rock 1Island Arsenal, ca. 1921)--no site
evident

21. Drain (Rock Island Arsenal, ca. 192l1)--untested

22. Magazines (Rock Island Arsenal, ca. 1921)--under Bldg.
299

23. Caves (Rock Island Arsenal, ca. 1921)--under Bldg. 299

24. Barracks (Rock Island Arsenal, ca. 1921)--tested; arti-
facts recovered

25. YMCA--recreation (Rock Island Arsenal, ca. 1921)--under
Gun Park

PrrCT DTN —
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26. Bakery (Rock 1Island Arsenal, ca. 1921)--no surface
indications

27. 1Industrial zones (Jordan 1919; Map of Rock Island
1890)~-no surface indications
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When it was determined that archeological survey could
not be carried out over the entire Island in the time avail-
able for the project, Interagency Archeological Services in
Denver agreed to a proposal to limit the survey to "priority
areas." These were areas likely to be impacted in the near
future by construction and expansion activities of the Arse-
nal. The Facilities Engineering Office was instrumental in
| the determination of these priority areas. A total of 130
acres, including these priority locations, had been
subjected to a thorough field examination when fieldwork was
terminated on 26 November 1980. Survey data are described
here, and presented in Figures 25 and 26, utilizing the
standard engineering map of the Island (1944) as a base.

Areas Surveyed and Tested

REARM. Project REARM involves the consolidation of
existing facilities and activities, and the construction and
implementation of new ones in order to "bring the RIA indus-
trial operations up to current state-of-the-art technology"”
(Harland Bartholomew and Associates 1980:FNSI-1). The areas
where new construction was anticipated were surveyed at the
beginning of the project. :

Previous documentary research failed to note any
historic sites 1in the impact areas. The ground survey
included an area walkover and mechanical subsurface trench-
ing. Each trench was examined for artifacts and other
evidence of past human activity. Trench locations varied as
obtrusive trees and other surface complexities interfered
with controlled spacing. The areas tested (Fig. 25) were
designated as "A" (the Wooded Area), "B" (the Coal Pile),
"C" (REARM Parking), and "D" (New Parking).

Area "A" was tested with twenty trenches, "B" with six
deep backhoe pits, "C" with four, and "D" with a series of
shovel tests, around a centrally located one meter by one
meter test unit (specific details are in Appendix II). All
trenching referred to in this report was dug with a
small-size "Ditch-Witch." No cultural artifacts were iden-
tified in any of the tests.

Rock 1Island National Cemetery Extension. The location
of the cemetery (Fig. 26) was established around 1870, and
subsequent additions enlarged it to its present 31.5 acres.
Further extensions are contemplated and these were surveyed.
Although the possibility of remains from squatters' activ-
ities existed, documentary research failed to identify any
specific sites in the area.

Areas tested included a lawn bordered on the north and
south by wooded areas (Fig. 26). Nine trenches were put
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into the lawn, and at 69cm below the surface, what was
thought to be an organic layer was encountered. Close exam-
ination revealed it was the result of limestone weathering
from the bedrock which was immediately below at 72cm below
surface. In the wooded area north of the lawn, eighteen
short (approximately 1.5m long and 0.5m wide) trenches were
put in. Fourteen similar units were put in the wooded area
south of the 1lawn. No artifacts or any evidence of past
human activity .:re found in any of the units. Detailed
excavation notes i:e in Appendix II.

Shell Midden. .ock Island's location in the Mississip-
pi River makes it an ideal place for shellfish exploitation.
Sites along the banks of the Mississippi and nearby tribu-
taries have revealed the use of shellfish by prehistoric
populations (Benchley et al. 1977:68). Historically, a shell
button industry developed in the late 19th century along the
lowa shore and it is certain that the use of shell for
buttons dates earlier. Confederate prisoners at Rock Island
dQuring the Civil War made buttons and other objects as a
source of income (Hesseltine 1962:51; Fig. 5).

There are several areas on the Island where shell
concentrations, or middens, have been reported. Tillinghast
(1898:41) quotes A. S. Tiffany, whose paper was read before
the Davenport Academy of Sciences 28 February 1873, describ-
ing a shell bed, varying from "6 to 16 inches in thickness"”
and “"near the western extremity" of the Arsenal grounds
where, in the "lower part of this shell bed were found the
skull and bones belonging to one individual." In associ-
ation "with these human remains were found the point of an
antler of a deer or elk, and what appears to be a fragment
of the shin bone of a bison." Quoting another paper,
presented by Professor W. H. Pratt on 17 August 1877,
Tillinghast (ibid.) writes,

At the head of the Island, where are found the
most extensive accumulations in this region, we
find, at several places along the edge of the
bank, an additional deposit of shells heaped up
above the general shell bed. . . .

. e

At the time of our survey, only one midden of any size
was located. This was on an -eroding embankment on the
southern shore of the 1Island (Fig. 26). All other known
shell concentrations have since eroded away, are only on the
surface as small scatters, or have been destroyed or covered
over by construction work. The area designated as the Frei-~
tag Site (FPig. 25) may be part of a former riverbank site,
but no shells were present.

el hada o

One extant midden (Fig. 26) was tested with two
l-by-1-meter squares. This deposit was on a bluff about 10
meters above water level. Substantial erosion had occurred
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and shell deposits covered an area no greater than approxi-
mately 4m by 4m. The first unit, about four meters from the
edge of the bank, was taken to a depth of 80cm. Shell was
encountered from 25 to 40cm below the surface. The second
unit, located at the edge of the bank where shell was scat:
tered ¢n the surface, was taken down to 60cm. The shell
layer was 10cm thick from the surface and mixed with gravel.

The predominant species in the deposit were the
Monkey-Face (Quadrula metanevra Rafinesque; Parmalee
1967:39), the Purple Warty-Back (Cyclonaias tuberculata
Rafinesque; Parmalee 1967:27), and the Mucket (Actinonaias
carinata Barnes; Parmalee 1967:56). The mixture of species
and the presence of a hammerstone indicate this was a
cultural rather than natural deposit. The primary problem,
which remains unresolved, is whether the deposit was prehis-
toric or historic. The presence of the hammerstone suggests
prehistoric activity, but not conclusively. It is known
that Civil War guards and prisoners, and other historic
period persons have collected shells from time to time.
Furthermore, the presence of early historic concrete piers
nearby suggests that the shell/gravel mixture may have been
accumulated for use 1in concrete mixing. Although Ferrel
Anderson, president of the Quad Cities Archaeological Socie-
ty and an Arsenal employee, indicated that others in the
past had found cultural material, only one apparent hammer-
stone was found.

Proposed Recreation Area. Located on the north side of
the Island (Fig. 25), this area will include two baseball
fields and at 1least one fieldhouse. No prehistoric or
historic sites were mentioned in any of the documentary
sources checked for this area.

Nine trenches were dug averaging a meter in depth, and
two to 75 meters in length. Examination of the soil indi-
cated its major composition to be fill. Conversations with
Arsenal and golf course personnel confirmed our conclusions.
The area had been leveled during construction of the dike
along the north shore of the Island. Dirt was borrowed to
build the base and leveling was completed in the last decade
to accommodate recreational users. The central part of the
area also has been disturbed through the locating of the
lg?ching pool/septic system for Quarters 30 and 31 (Fig.
25).

Rodman Reroute. The relocation of Rodman Avenue will
cut across a wooded area (Fig. 25) which has been used in
the past as a dumping ground and discreet storage area.
Documentary information (Map of Rock Island Arsenal, n.d.)
indicated that among the possible finds to be encountered
was a powder magazine, but it is believed that the structure
was never built (Bouilly, personal communication).
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After preliminary pedestrian reconnaissance, 15 test
units were mechanically excavated along the proposed relo-
catinn area. Trees, their roots, and large concentrations
of thorn bushes made it difficult to survey some parts. In
the case of a few test units, the presence of unknown mate-
rials--seemingly lubricants, oils, and white crystalline
chemical accretions-~precluded a thorough examination.

No cultural materials were uncovered in any of the
tests.

1919 Barracks. Temporary living quarters were built to
house workers in 1918. On 1 January 1919, fire destroyed !
the one designated as Barracks "G" (Fig. 26, 27). Available
time for working here was limited, so testing involved no
more than determining the nature of extant remains.

Two trenches were dug on a north-south line, about 15
meters apart. In both, the presence of large amounts of
limestone, probably from the foundation of the former
barracks, was noted.

Artifacts recovered from trench #2 included earthenware
sherds, miscellaneous glass fragments, and wire nails found
at 25-30cm below the surface, mixed with crushed limestone.
Although temporally nondiagnostic, everything recovered was
consistent with an early 20th-century date.

Indian Mounds. Among Rock Island's most noted features
are a series of mounds located on a Coyne fine sand ridge
(USDA 1977: Sheet 24) terrace on the north side of the
Island (Fig. 26). It always has been assumed that they were
of aboriginal Indian manufacture, and a sign currently marks
the largest one as an "Indian Mound" (Fig. 28). Early
references to them include an interview with a Mr. Watts by
the 1local historian, John Hauberg. Watts describes how,
when he was five or six years of age, residents on the
Island "dug into the mounds and discovered Indian remains,"
taking "some trinkets, beads and a pipe away" (Hauberg
Collection, interview of 12 January 1920). Which specific
mound he was referring to is not known. Another reference
comes from W. T. Norton, a guard at the Civil War prison
camp, who writes that he and other guards found many arrow-
heads and other aboriginal relics during their off-duty
hours ( Rock 1Island Daily Union, 3 October 1915). The
camp's location was not far from the mounds.

The first scientific attempt to excavate the mounds was
in 1875 when the Davenport Academy of Science expressed an
interest. Flagler discouraged it, believing them to be
"natural curiosities" and "a valuable attraction and addi-
tion to the grounds of the arsenal."” He also expresses his
ignorance as to the mounds' contents, noting that they have
been "carefully preserved" since his arrival, although they
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Fig. 28

Indian Mound (#1)
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showed s8igns of being "dug into and examined some time ago"
(U. S. Army Bureau of Ordnance 1890, Vol. 3:97). Another
attempt was made by the Academy in 1886 when, in writing to
a different commander, Col. T. G. Baylor, it solicited "the
privilege of opening the mounds on the Arsenal Island"
(Browning Museum, Folder 132). It is uncertain whether or
not excavations actually were carried out.

Limited testing of the one large mound (10m in diameter
and 1.5m in height) by the ISU crew was conducted to confirm
whether, in fact, it was a product of human manufacture. It
was decided that only the minimum amount of work necessary
to make the determination would be done, thus preserving the
mound.

Three test units eventually were laid out, the second
two coming only after the first failed to produce the
desired information. The first test unit was a 1 x 3-meter i
unit running along the eastern periphery of the mound (Fig.
29) in a north-south direction. Orientation and location
were decided upon in order to encounter the edge of the
mound and to eliminate any necessity of actually going into

the mound. The results of Unit 1 proved inconclusive, and
the field crew excavated into the mound, one meter at a
time. Unit 2 was laid out as a western extension of the

southern third of Unit 1 (Fig. 30). Unit 3 followed, after
artifact recovery from Unit 2 again proved inconclusive,
with the final excavation being T-shaped, three meters long
north-south, and an equal length east-west. The completion
of Unit 3, with its attendant artifacts and addition to the
wall profile (Figs. 31, 32) already established, ended our
work at the Indian Mound.

Artifacts recovered from Units 1-3 included chert
) flakes, a 1lead shot, and an iron spike. The location of a
secondary flake at 105cm below the surface reinforced the

idea that the mound was of human manufacture.

Use of the USDA Soil Map suggested some potential
correlation to be explored between the Coyne soil group and
prehistoric sites. Other mounds along the terrace were
cored (Fig. 26) as well as the areas between them. Coring
did not confirm the other mounds as being the product of
human manufacture. However, it did result in conclusions
regarding the nature of mounds #3 and #4. Bedrock was
! reached at 2 to 8cm below the surface in mound #3 and at 2

to 10cm below the surface in mound #4. Mounds #2 and #5
‘ showed the same soil stratigraphy as mound #1 and hold prom-

ise for future work. The extent of survey in this and other
parts of the 1Island was insufficient to confirm or reject
the suspected soil-site correlation,

(S U

ad st

Civil wWar P.O.W. Camp. Constructed in 1862 by the
Quartermaster Corps, the Rock Island Prison housed over




Fig. 29 Indian Mound
Unit 1 on East
Perimeter

Fig. 30 Indian Mound (#1)
Unit 2




¢-1 sayup ‘®113oxad 3IseM (T#) punoy ueripur ¢ 314

" —— e




49

*a1¥130ad umeap ‘(1#) punol uejpulr z¢ ‘314

ecuBqINSI] JuepOY Q

vozrnoy §/v

<

wo

174 )

S

[




50

12,000 Confederate prisoners during the Civil War. Many
died and subsequently were buried on the Island. The fact !
that the prison camp was mapped and photographed extensively
offered hope of 1locating its walls, barracks, and other
structures, and of recovering materials from the Civil War
period. An attempt to locate remains of the camp was
considered to be important, although the area is in no
danger of immediate impact. Ilocating the camp would permit
valuable testing of the locational veracity of various docu~
ments and reports.

Unfortunately, time was limited and misfortune in the
guise of machinery failures, accidental subsurface
disruptions of electrical wiring, and other problems devel-
oped. Long trenches were cut into the area (Fig. 25) along
Terrace Drive and Hedge Lane averaging a meter in depth, but
no identifiable artifacts or features were located. A
limited concentration of crushed shell (ca. 50cm x 2m) was !
located in one trench, exciting hopes of discovering some !
evidence of modifications by Confederate prisoners. i
Although most of these shells were highly. fragmentary, iden-
tifiable fragments and occasional whole specimens indicated
a mixture similar to that described for the south side of
the 1Island. Lack of additional contextual data does not
permit a conclusion regarding the cultural role of these
shells.

The paucity of artifacts recovered during testing does
not eliminate hope that remnants of the prison exist. Only
a small portion was tested in areas along roads where
construction may have destroyed remains. (The road areas
were chosen for testing so as not to disrupt the activities
of the golf course, which is leased from the government by a
private club.) Future work may still reveal remains of the
prison camp (Fig. 33).

Shoreline Survey. The perimeter of the Island (Fig.
25, 26) was surveyed to inspect archeologically promising
areas. Although surface-scatters of artifacts were found,
they were either isolated finds or associated with modern
dumping activities. A large portion of the shoreline has
been rip-rapped and otherwise filled, and a dike built along
much of it to prevent flooding made archeological survey
difficult. Alternating episodes of erosion, flooding, and
filling have clearly had a severe impact on the shoreline.

Included in the shoreline survey was the former Fort
Armstrong location. Ceramic sherds and container glass
fragments were found, but no definite dating of these arti-~
facts could be done. Subsurface excavations in the area
could very well locate remnants of the fort. However, those
parts of the area used for construction of other buildings,
the building of the railroad embankment, and otherwise
affected by decades of use may have destroyed or buried most
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remnants of the fort. Also included are artifacts collected
in the area around the reconstructed blockhouse by Mr.
Thomas Freitag of the Corps of Engineers--Rock Island
District.

Another part of the shoreline survey was the pedestrian
reconnaissance and coring of the area around the east end of
the 1Island. Documentary sources identified several facto-
ries, farmsteadgs and other cultural sites. None were
located, however; that end of the Island has been affected
severely by the raising of the Mississippi River levels and
subsequent flooding, construction, and f£illing.

Freita Site. A scatter of historic and prehistoric
material lFig. 25) collected by Mr. Tom Freitag, formerly of
the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers' Rock Island District
office, may be associated with fill deposited at the time
the bridge was constructed; none of the historic material
appears to represent Fort Armstrong period activities. The
prehistoric material may reflect traditional reports of a
site on the western tip of the Island. Testing was not
carried out partially because the area is not part of the
Arsenal's property and principally because the area is not
threatened by any immediate construction plans. In the
event any alteration of the south bridge abutment or the
Fort Armstrong replica green area is contemplated, careful
testing should be undertaken.

Winfield Scott's Headquarters. A structure depicted in
early etchings and maps located just east of the Clock Tower
building (Fig. 25) is 1labeled "General Scott's Head-
quarters." This structure was sought by Mr. Roy Eichhorn as
part of the archeological survey of a piece of land east of
the Clock Tower to evaluate it for a proposed alteration of
Rodman Avenue. His tests (Fig. 34; detailed in Appendix II)
did not locate the structure, nor were any artifacts recov-
ered.

Archeological Survey Results--Summary

As noted previously, the archeological survey of Arse-
nal Island did not produce the results we had anticipated,
given the frequent allusions to both prehistoric and histor-
ic remains (Figs. 20 and 21). The meager results can be
attributed to three principal factors: (1) the manner in
which the logistics for the survey evolved and were
constrained by past and present local conditions on Arsenal
Island; (2) the practical time and financial limits placed
on the survey; and (3) the inherent limitations of physical
preservation on small islands with high population densities
and levels of continual use. This survey, nonetheless, has
resulted in the evaluation of many major areas of the Island
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(Figs. 25 and 26). It also has provided some insight into
how a future survey might be conducted more effectively, and
what the objectives of such a survey might be.

A number of logistical factors affected the survey.
First, we went into the field almost two weeks later than we
had anticipated. This meant that we had to begin testing in
the REARM Area almost immediately, rather than first
completing the bulk of the documentary research as we
originally planned. Second, we had failed to appreciate the
complexity of the lease and psychological conditions affect-
ing the 1Island's golf course, and testing in this area was
severely hampered. Third, while our original research
proposal had not addressed itself to coordination with the
Arsenal's long-range master plan, initial conversations with
representatives of the Facilities Engineering Office indi-
cated that such coordination seemed a reasonable approach to
pursue in picking other priority areas after the REARM Site
had been evaluated. This resulted in the survey of numerous
separate areas rather than extensive contiguous areas that
might have yielded better results. Flood and fill activ-
ities also had changed the surface area of the Island much
more than anticipated.

The time and financial limits on the survey were also
guite tight. The early December completion date remained
basically unchanged despite the delayed start (although the
schedule was stretched a bit to allow the week's research in
Washington). The types of remains and features we were
searching for in most cases probably could be more effec-
tively sought by using large-scale scraping rather than
trenching. This was particularly true in the case of the
Civil War prisoner camp; however, as already noted, trench-
ing on the golf course was sufficiently difficult to
arrange, let alone massive horizontal clearing. The project
budget also was not sufficient to permit this level of
mechanical assistance. Time schedule and constraints proba-
bly were most crucial, since mechanical scraping would have
been a hit-and-miss effort prior to the completion of the
documentary search. Delay of documentary research by the
REARM testing affected the ultimate survey results, as did
postponing the Washington research until after the survey ’

-

had been completed.

A last important factor affecting the survey was the
physical nature of the project setting. 1Islands have immu-
table agquatic boundaries which mean that activities take
place repeatedly in the same area. The waters which form
the boundaries also affect the island by the processes of
' erosion and deposition which, in turn, stimulate further
alteration of the island by human actions seeking to miti-
gate the effect of those natural processes.
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Island surfaces are more or less affected relative to
population density and use practices. Small islands almost
always lack many basic construction materials; given trans-
portation costs, it is more cost effective to reutilize
available materials than to import new supplies. Conse-
quently, abandoned structures are much more likely to be
removed. As population density and land use needs increase,
areas of the 1island previously  considered unuseable are
brought into service. Low areas are either filled or
protected from flooding, greatly altering the shoreline of
an island. Many of these activities and changes occur casu-
ally in almost any island setting; the problem has been
compounded by the military presence on Arsenal Island, where
such alterations have been both intensive and systematic
over a long period of time. Finally, the "Rock" in Rock
Island has also played a substantial role in diminished
preservation. Those areas that are not low-lying and filled
are basically bedrock within a few centimeters of the
surface. Protective deposition under normal soil formation
processes simply has not taken place. The least disturbed
portion of the Island is in the massive area occupied by the
golf course, but large-scale research there seems impossible
at present. (A higher percentage of land use on the Island
is dedicated to the golf course than to arms productionl)

Despite these limitations, additional survey on the
Island should be productive. However, such survey should be
preceded by additional archival work in Washington, D.C.,
and in the ever-increasing photographic and documentary
archives being accumulated at an impressive rate by the
ARRCOM historical office on the Island. Once the documenta-
ry picture is more complete, additional survey could be
undertaken.

Such a survey could attempt to delimit outbuildings and
possible features associated with the Davenport House and
trading post and to detect additional remains of the Fort
Armstrong complex. The latter area is in a heavily used
portion of the Island, and it is doubtful that large-scale
excavation or even extensive testing would be permitted
unless it was construction oriented. Although parts of this
area have been highly disturbed, archeological research
might help to solve various historical and architectural
controversies regarding the size, dimensions, and structural
details of the Fort.

. .
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In the historic period, the other most important
research area remaining on the Island is that occupied by
‘ the Civil War prisoner of war camp. Large~scale excavation

will be necessary here to make a final determination on the
extent of archeological remains. The surface soil is very
shallow over much of the area, and Island employees who have
examined the area with metal detectors reported negative
results. Appropriate testing in this area would also result
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in substantial disruption to the operation of the golf
course, and in the Quarters 1-6 areas.

Expanded testing for prehistoric remains should take
place in the green area around the Fort Armstrong replica to
determine the full extent of the Freitag Site. 1In addition,
testing tied to the Coyne soil group distribution in undis-
turbed areas might produce interesting results. The area
around the Indian mound group should be tested in more
detail to locate other mounds that may have been leveled by
golf course activities, and to seek out associated habita-
tion locations. Again, this testing might require
substantial disruption of golf course activities.

Additional prehistoric and historic testing and exca-
vation such as that described above would contribute to our
knowledge of previous utilization of the Island. As we have
stated previously, we would not, however, expect further
testing to locate any major historic or prehistoric concen-
trations that have not been identified at this time.

The documentary part of the research met our expecta-
tions in terms of disorganization, dispersed curation, and
massiveness, but the archeological survey was disappointing
and surprising in the sparseness of the remains. Future
survey objectives and methods have been suggested above.
The architectural survey met more closely our expectation of
combining documentary and physical evidence. These results
are presented in the following section.
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REPORT ON ARCHITECTURAL INVENTORY

INTRODUCTION

The architectural assessment of Rock Island Arsenal
sought to determine, in conjunction with provisions estab-
lished by the Department of the Army (Technical Manual No.
5-801-1) and by the National Register of Historic Places,
which components of the facility contribute significantly to
its historic architectural character. This assessment in-
cludes buildings, structures, and related features such as
thoroughfares and landscape, which lend to the total historic
architectural character of the arsenal visually and which
represent the development of the arsenal into an architectur-
ally significant installation of the Ordnance Corps of the

3 Army.

2 Fig. 35 shows five (5) primary areas which, for the pur-

) pose of the Inventory of Cultural Resources of Rock Island
Arsenal, constitute a single historic district:

Area I: at the western end of the district; the princi-
pal feature is the Clock Tower (Building 205, originally
Storehouse A). Historically, the Clock Tower represents
the beginnings of an arsenal at Rock Island and physi-
.cally serves as the western approach to the greater ar-
senal complex.

Area II: approximately three quarters of a mile east of
Area I through a direct approach along Rodman Avenue
(formerly Main) through Area V. This area consists of
Stone Shops (Buildings 60, 61, 62, 64, 66, 67, 68, 102,
103, 104, 106, 108, 109, 110 and the chimney with Build-
ing 65) and ancillary buildings (56, 90, 225 and 360).
Historically, Area II is the heart of the arsenal's in-
dustrial complex. It is an architectural ensemble uni-
fied by the consistent stylistic treatment of the build-
ings, as well as their formal disposition, primarily
along the extended axis of Rodman Avenue,

Area III: the principal officers' quarters area situ-
ated directly north of the Stone Shops. The shops and
3 quarters are distinctly separated by what is now the
' golf course, but a landscape interspace has been a part
of the planning and development of the area from the
outset. The significant buildings are Quarters 1, 2, 3,
4, 6, and 7. Historically, the development of this res-
idential group parallels that of the Stone Shops, al-
. though stylistically there are some apparent breaks.
{ The early ones {(Quarters 1, 2, 3, and 4), dating from

1871 and 1872, are Italianate in character and distinct
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from the more classically formal Stone Shops. The
; eclectic styles of Quarters 6 and 7 are indicative of
: their later dates (1901 and 1905).

Area IV: consists of a narrow strip including the stone
bridge (structure 57) and the reservoir (structure 53),
and serves as a link between the quarters area (Area
I1II) and the Stone Shops (Area II). These two struc-
tures are, for the purposes of this assessment, rem-

i nants. The former is a physical feature which provided
a pedestrian link from the residences to the shops,
while the latter was part of the c¢ivil engineering amen-
ities.

Area V: consists primarily of Rodman Avenue and its
flanking greenway. As the arterial thoroughfare for the
arsenal, it represents a link for the historic change
which took place in planning and development of the ord-
nance facility (e.g., between the early, albeit aborted,
inception of the facility with the Clock Tower and the
subsequent "Grand Arsenal” concept of the Rodman and
Flagler commands). Two groups of buildings or struc-
tures are included: the early gates and guard station
(Building 321) which serve as the formal entry into Rod-
man Avenue and the 20th-century constructions at the
approach to the Stone Shops (Buildings 208, 210, 220,
350 and 390). The 20th-century shops, though disparate ﬁ

in style from the ensemble of the Stone Shops, serve as
a satisfactory visual bulwark to them as one proceeds
from west to east along Rodman Avenue. Historically as
well as visually, these represent a transition for the
Ordnance Corps to more sophisticated weaponry and
production methods of the 20th century.

The foregoing general outline describes the components
which together compose the historic architectural features of
the Rock Island Arsenal. All buildings, structures, and re-
lated architectural features (enumerated in Table 1) are con-
gsidered historically significant and are recommended for nom-
ination to the National Register of Historic Places. For the
purposes of the Department of the Army (as set forth in T.M.
No. 5-801-11), all buildings, structures, and related archi-
tectural features mentioned in this introductory narrative or
listed in Table 1 are considered in either Category 1 or Cat-
egory 2. As a guide to preservation planning, the five areas
can be considered a single historic district. Within this
district, Area IV can be adjusted in width as much as neces-
sary to provide the bridge not only with protection for his-
toric preservation, but also an adequate environment for its
function as an enhancing visual feature.
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TABLE I

Cultural Resource Inventory and Evaluation
of
Rock Island Arsenal, Rock Island, Illinois

List of Historically Significant Buildings/Structures

U.S. Army
National Register T.M. 5-801-1
Bldg. # Date(s) Area of Significance Category *
2 1873~-74 Architecture 1
3 1871-72 " 1
4 1871~-72 . 1
6 1905 " 1
7 1902 " 1
53 1869 (?) Engineering 2 or 3
56 1892 Architecture 1
57 c. 1881 Landscape Architecture 1
60 1867-72 Architecture 1
61 1917-18 " 1
62 1871-75 " 1
64 1874-78 " 1
65 1876 " 1
66 1878-86 " 1
67 1917-18 " 1
68 1881-93 " 1
90 1873-74 " 1
102 1873-74 " 1 :
103 1917-18 " 1 i
104 1867-73 " 1 !
106 1871-74 " 1 !
108 1876-82 " 1 {
109 1917-18 " 1
110 1878-83 " 1
138 1886 Military History 2
160 1881;1918 Engineering 2 or 3
205 1863-67 Architecture 1
208 1943 " 2
210 1921 " 2
220 1918 Architecture & Military History 2
225 1873-74 Architecture 1
280 1879 Military History 2 or 3
301 1870-71 Architecture & Military History 1
320 1895-96 and after Engineering 1 or 2
321 1875 Architecture 1
346 b. 1833 History 1
350 1918 Architecture 1
360 1889 " 1
390 1942 " 1 or 2
* Categories taken from U. S. Army (1975)
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The historic district just outlined above does not in-
clude all the architectural/structural features on the island
which may fall into one of several areas of historic signifi-
cance for the purposes of the National Register or the Army's
T.M. No. 5-891~-1. These structures are listed below, but
elaborated upon in other parts of the Cultural Resource In-
ventory and Evaluation where they are treated in a context
appropriate to their significance. Examination of these
buildings and study of related materials does not lead to
compelling reasons for including them under architectural

significance:

1. The closed lumber shed (Building 138),

2. The hydro-electric plant (Building 160),

3. The Fort Armstrong Site and Blockhouse Replica
(Building 200),

4. The magazine (Building 280),

5. The Pivot Bridge from the island to Davenport, i
Iowa (Structure 320), i

6. The Davenport House (Building 346).

A Grand Design for a Grand Arsenal?

This architectural report emphasizes the importance of
dealing with the Inventory and Evaluation of Rock Island Ar-
senal by stressing the aggregate of construction enterprises
rather than with a simple enumeration of individual entities.
This mode of analysis is not artificially imposed, but re-
flects the manner of architectural conception and planning
during the latter third of the 19th century. From most
available indications, the centralization was due largely to
the imposing presence and influence of General Thomas J.
Rodman.

Lack of documentation contributes to apocryphal tradi-
tion, but on Rock Island such tradition seems to be substan-
tiated by the physical presence of a completely conceived and
all but entirely executed master plan carried out between
1866 and 1893. This was the critical historical period in
the initial development and growth of Rock Island Arsenal,
with a subsequent transitional period between the years 1900
to 1943. These two periods are linked by the respective
buildings of the two eras, and patterns in part reflect the
limited space available on the island. It is imperative to
deal with the several construction enterprises and the two
historic periods as an aggregate.

A leading factor in the apocryphal tradition is the no-
‘ tion of a "Grand Arsenal," although documentarily it seems

to have been little more than a notion. The assignment of
Rodman to the command of Rock Island in 1865, and his
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extended conferences with Chief of Ordnance Dyer soon after,
was followed by the emergence of a full-blown plan within six
months. These related events lend credence to the notion
that the Grand Arsenal was to have been developed there, and
Major D.W. Flagler, who succeeded Rodman, seems to have car-
ried on the plan. Having been transferred from command of
the Augusta Arsenal in May of 1871, and in view of Dyer's
visit to Rock Island in October of 1871 several months after
Flagler arrived, there is sufficient reason to believe that
Flagler was briefed on any understanding of the concept which
may have existed between Rodman and the Chief of Ordnance
(Flagler 1877:275); we are told by Flagler himself (Flagler
1877:261) that the plans for the work were Rodman's. Al-
though all particulars may not have been articulated, it is
clear from the work accomplished during Flagler's command
that he was well informed. The foregoing assumes more than
can be currently verified through scholarly research. Never-
theless, the evidence in the work accomplished (if followed
in chronological order) lends validity to the assumptions.

With the notion of a Grand Arsenal, and Rock Island an
available site, the opportunity arose to create an architec-
turally unified industrial facility without having to take
into account preexistent development, the Clock Tower not-
withstanding. The initial undertaking begun by Kingsbury at
the west end of the island was abandoned with Rodman in com-
mand. The new site was on the highest ground of the island,
and the commitment to making this a lasting monument can be
seen in the care and expense taken to provide sound founda-
tions for the buildings (Flagler 1877:122).

From the outset, the plan was for a unified, formally
organized industrial complex operated as a military instal-
lation, with an apparent understanding that it would be a
long-term project. The two rows of Stone Shops with the an-
cillary buildings appear as formidable and austere housing
for the business of manufacturing war material and express in
their classical vocabulary a sense of military discipline and
rigor. The long vista up the gradual slope from the low-
lying ground of the Clock Tower site eastward along Rodman
Avenue is all a part of the envisioned ceremoniality to be
associated with the formidability of the place.

Figure 36 illustrates the then wooded entrance to the
western end of the long entryway to the shop complex, while
Figure 37 shows an artist's rendition of the 1long avenue,
looking to the west.

Once the work on the industrial buildings was underway,
construction of quarters for the commandant and subordinate
officers was begun. Quarters 1 was started while Rodman was
still in command, but he did not live long enough to occupy
it. It seems that had Rodman lived, the subordinate officers
quarters might have ended up in a formal row along the east




Fig.

Fig. 36 Entrance to Rock Island Arsenal
(looking east), ca. 1900. File
Photograph, ARRCOM Historical
Office, Rock Island.
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37 Artist's rendition (1891) of the main avenue

and shop complex, Rock Island Arsenal, looking
west. File Photograph, ARRCOM Histori.cal
Office, Rock Island.
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side of the West (now Gillespie) Avenue. However that may
be, it is to Flagler's credit that the informal arrangement
of the quarters following the line of a natural ridge to
afford a view of the river became a reality (Flagler 1877:
277).

The net result, however, is that this elegant residen-
tial area was intended to be clearly distinguishable from the
industrial one. The pomp and circumstance of symmetry and
formal classical architectural vocabulary found in the indus-
trial area gave way to a picturesque albeit massive adapta-
tion of the Italian Villa for Quarters 1 with a more re-
strained 1Italianate character for Quarters 2, 3, and (¢.
These were irreqularly disposed along the ridge rather than
forced into a formal arbitrary alignment.

The juxtaposition of formality, in association with bus-
iness {duties), and informality, with gracious 1living and
social life as expressed in the developments of Rock Island
Arsenal during the Rodman-~-Flagler commands, represents the
best of 19th century architectural thinking and planning.
The organization shows the influence of such leaders in land-
scape and architecture as Andrew Jackson Downing and later
Frederick Law Olmsted. We also should not overlook the im-
portance of the earlier architectural achievements of Thomas
Jefferson,

These accomplishments grew from the leadership of Rodman
and Flagler, perhaps abetted by Dyer and the notion of a
Grand Arsenal. The development of Rock Island Arsenal during
the last third of the nineteenth century must be recognized
as an exemplary demonstration of knowledge and talent in the
application of good planning principles.

Development of Rock Island Arsenal's Historic Architecture

Two features are significant to the early history (prior
to 1863) of white European settlement on the island of Rock
Island:

1. The Fort Armstrong Site and Blockhouse Replica
(Building 200), and
2. The Davenport House (Building 346; Fig. 38).

These are treated elsewhere in this Cultural Resource Inven-
tory and Evaluation. Despite their historic importance,
their eligibility for Nomination to the National Register of
Historic Places cannot be derived from criteria appropriate
to the area of architectural significance. This is explained
to some degree under the heading "Evaluation" later in the
architectural section of this report.




Fig. 38 Davenport House (ca. 1900), Rock Island.
File Photograph, AARCOM Historical Office,

Rock Island.

Fig. 39: The Clock Tower-Storehouse A (Now The Clock Tower,
Building 206)
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Following 1863, one can deal with buildings and struc-
tures which are architecturally significant, individually and
collectively. These are coincidental in time with the devel-
opment of the arsenal, and those that remain are extant monu-
ments of its history. This part of the report follows a gen-
eral chronological order implicit in the five major areas
already outlined for the historic district.

As recorded elsewhere in this Cultural Resource Inven-
tory and Evaluation, the inception and growth of the Rock
Island Arsenal took place during the succeeding commands of
Major C.P. Kingsbury (July 1863 - June 1865), General T.J.
Rodman (August 1865 - June 1871), and Major D.W. Flagler
{(June 1871 - December 1876). At the conclusion of Flagler'’s
command, the direction of the development was firmly enough
established to be carried on for an additional decade and a
half without major deviation. Departures in continuity of
style and arrangement from the original concept do not appear
until after 1900 in the quarters area. Changes began around
World War I in the industrial complex west of Gillespie
Avenue and continue up to the present.

Area I

The Clock Tower (Building 205; Fig. 39, begun 1863 and
completed 1867) is the earliest extant building to be asso-
ciated with the Rock Island Arsenal. After the Davenport
House (1833), it is chronologically the next construction of
historic significance on the island still extant. It was so
situated as to provide for future development of an arsenal
complex around it, but if there were any definite plans for
such a complex, however tentative, these are unknown. Before
the Clock Tower was completed in the fall of 1867, General
Rodman had assumed command (1866); and by early the following
year plans for a complex at a new site in the center of the
island had been authorized.

Area 11

Rodman shared ideas (mostly in conversation) with Chief
of Ordnance, General A.B. Dyer, and the complex of ten shop
buildings and eight accompanying storehouses to be situated
in the center of the island began to take shape by February
7, 1866, approximately six months after Rodman assumed com-
mand (Fig. 35; Flagler 1877:123). Before the end of that
year construction on the first of the buildings had begun
(Flagler 1877:256).

Prior to beginning construction, some changes were made
( in the February 1866 plans. These consisted of adding pro-~
jecting porticoes on three outer facades of each building and
eliminating a structure which crossed the court in each
building. Thereafter, between October 1866 and the comple-
tion of the last of the so-called Stone Shops in 1893, the
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construction of the complex of ten shops evolved without
departure from the original plans. Such deviation as did
occur is not perceptible except to one thoroughly familiar
with details of texture, color, and cut of stone, and some
lesser details of iron work.

As planned, the industrial complex was to consist of ten
shop buildings, each identical in ground plan. Five were
situated in a row along the south side of the main thorough-
fare (now Rodman Avenue) and five directly opposite along the
north side, Each set of five consisted of a symmetrical ar-
rangement whereby the center building was lower in elevation
(one story) while the flanking pairs were taller (basement
and three stories). Although only two were built and only
one remains, each of the eight taller buildings was to have
been accompanied by a storehouse situated across a street and
opposite the open court, In architectural style, all were
uniform, drawing upon a variant of the Greek Revival Style.

These extant buildings were constructed in the following

order:

1. Building 60 (originally shop B), begun 1867,
completed 1872 (Figs. 40, 41).

Building 104 (originally Shop C), begun 1867,
completed 1873.

Building 106 (originally Shop E), begun 1872,
completed 1874. ’

Building 62 (originally Shop D), begun 1871,
completed 1875 (Figs. 42, 43).

Building 102 (originally Shop A), begun 1873,
completed 1876.

Building 64 (originally shop F), begun 1874,
completed 1878.

Building 108 (originally Shop G), begun 1876,
completed 1882,

Building 66 (originally Shop H), begun 1878,
completed 1886.

Building 110 (originally Shop I), begun 1878,
completed 1883 (Figs. 44, 45).

Building 56 (originally Storehouse K), built 1892
(Figs. 46, 47).

Building 68 (originally Shop K), begun 1881,
completed 1893.
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Figure 35 also shows buildings other than the ten Stone
Shops and their eight storehouses. Two smaller buildings on
either side of Rodman Avenue, serve as an immediate gateway
directly west of the westernmost shop buildings. Across Gil-
lespie Avenue, opposite Building 102 (Shop A), is the guard
house and fire station (Building 225; Figs. 48, 49) con-
structed in 1873-1874. Opposite tl..s, on the north side of
Rodman Avenue and across Gillespie from Building 60 (Shop B),
is the headquarters building (now Quarters 32, 32a, 33, 33a




Fig. 40 Stone Shop (Shop B; now Building 60), facing north.

Fig. 41 Stone Shop (Shop B; now Building 60), facing southwest.




Fig. 42 Stone Shop (Shop D; now Building 62), facing northwest.
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Fig. 43 Stone Shop (Shop D; now Building 62), facing north.
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Fig. 46 Building 56 (originally Storehouse K), facing south.

Fig. 47 Building 56 (originally Storehouse K), facing east.
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Fig. 49 Post Building and Main

Guard House

(Building 225), facing

71

(Building 225), facing

northwest.

south-southwest.
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and numbered Building 360; Fig. 50), constructed in 1889, At
the northeast end of the ensemble, across East Avenue, is an-
other building (the Barracks Building 90, constructed in
1873-1874; Fig. 51) which was a part of the original concept
for this complex. To the extent that the industrial complex
was constructed as conceived between 1866 and 1893, the con-
sistency with which the stylistic character and the systems
of construction were sustained is remarkable.

Also of note is the fact that interconnecting buildings
(61, 67, 103 and 109) were added during 1917 and 1918 to fol-
low the stylistic character established by the originals, al-
though their construction is ferro-concrete.

Area II1

In contrast to the Stone Shop complex, the residential
area does not offer a consistency of style. There is a rath-
er sharp break between the four earlier buildings which are
generally Italianate in character (and distinguish themselves
from the formally classic Stone Shops) and the later two
which show varied and eclectic traits. A change in exterior
materials (from stone to brick and wood) in the later houses
adds to the contrast. Since the later houses are after 1900,
there is reason to believe that the trend away from consis-
tency of style (which shows most strikingly in two parts of
the hydro-electric plant, built in two different episodes)
was established by the time of their construction.

The construction sequence of buildings noted for archi-
tectural significance in Area III is as follows:

1. Quarters 1 (Building 301), begun 1870, completed
1871 (Fig. 52).

2. Quarters 3 (Building 3), begun 1871, completed
1872 (Fig. 53).

3. Quarters 4 (Building 4). begun 1871, completed
1874 (Fig. 54).

4. Quarters 2 (Building 2), begun 1873, completed
1874 (Fig. 55).

5. Quarters 7 (Building 7), built 1902 (Fig. 56).

6. Quarters 6 (Building 6), built 1905 (Fig. 57).

Area IV

At best, this component of the historic district is
problematical in terms of purely architectural criteria. It
consists of two features: one utilitarian (the reservoir;
Fig. 58, structure 53), and the other somewhat fanciful (the
stone bridge; Fig. 59, structure 57), in that it was con-
structed to cross an artificial pool. The former has already
been noted in the "Introduction" as a part of the civil engi-
neering amenities, and in its present condition would be con-
sidered questionable for nomination to the National Register
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Fig. 51 Originally Soldiers Barracks (now Building 90), facing
‘ southeast.
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Officer's Quarters (Now Quarters 1, Building 301,
facing northeast.

Fig. 52 Commanding
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Fig. 53 Subaltern Officers Quarters C (Now Quarters 3, Building 3
facing southeast.
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Fig. 54 Subaltern Officers Quarters D (Now Quarters 4, Building 4),
facing northeast.
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Fig. 55 Subaltern Officers Quarters B (Now Quarters 2, Building 2),
facing southeast.

Bt ——

L R
———
s . ; " e —— e o o e




] !
iy ‘.p‘ ‘».:i‘ kw' .
Fig. 56 Quarters 7 (Building 7), facing southeast.
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Fig. 57 Quarters 6 (Building 6), facing north.
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Fig. 59 Stone Bridge (Structure 57), facing west.
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on the basis of architectural merit. It was begun in 1869,
with the exact date of its completion uncertain.

The stone bridge, constructed circa 1881, traversed an
artificial lake and was apparently developed to enhance the
landscape between the shops and the residences as well as to
serve as a pedestrian access between the two areas. The lo-
cation of the reservoir and bridge (Figure 35) suggests they
may have been part of the original conception, or that they
were at least incorporated into the master scheme by 1876.

Area V

This area is of twofold importance: first, because Rod-
man Avenue was a key feature in the planning for the revised
concept of the arsenal and, second, because the later build-
ings facing onto Rodman Avenue represent a transition in the
history of the Ordnance Corps to more sophisticated weaponry
and production methods of the 20th century. While they are
to some degree an architecturally unified group, they serve
also as a visual bulwark to the Stone Shop complex.

As the Stone Shop complex began to take on the appear-
ance of its grand conception by the mid-1870s improvements
were made in the formal appearance of Rodman Avenue. The
guardhouse (Building 321) and entry gates were built in 1875,
and "trees along both sides of Main Rodman Avenue, from the
gates eastward to the foot of the high gounds were planted in
1876...."(Flagler 1877:272). This 1is indicative of good
landscape architecture representative of the later 19th cen-
tury, which delighted in enhancing a sense of formal grandeur
with vistas, up a gradual incline, relieved by a framework of
vegetation,

The intrusion upon this setting with the 20th-century
constructions must be recognized. However, as seen in eval-
uative comments which appear later in this report, the neces-
sity of sustaining the importance of Rodman Avenue in the to-
tal ensemble is paramocunt. The construction sequence of 20th
century buildings noted as significant in Area V is:

Building 220, constructed 1918 (Fig. 60).
Building 350, constructed 1919 (Fig. 61).
Building 210, constructed 1921,
Building 390, constructed 1942 (Fig. 62).
Building 208, constructed 1943.
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The last two buildings, dating from 1942 and 1943, are
less than fifty years old and, therefore, would not ordinari-
ly be considered eligible for the National Register of His-
toric Places. As part of a historic district, they can be
considered supporting elements. However, owing to their
imposing presence as part of a group in which there is a
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Fig. 60 Shop M (Building 220), facing southwest.

Fig. 61 Building 350, facing northwest.
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large degree of stylistic compatibility with those dating
from 1918 and 1921, they should be included as significant in
this Inventory and Evaluation.

Chronological Summary

This chronological overview shows that the buildings in
the historic district deemed significant as historic archi-
tecture are associated with two important historic periods.
The first of these is unguestionably of major significance
for an architectural enterprise and covers the period from
1866 to approximately 1893. The next important period be-
tween 1900 and 1943 is necessarily secondary to some degree.
Imposition of modern design into the otherwise stylistically
integrated 19th century area has been carried out judiciously
despite an obvious yielding to pressures of practicality.
That such pressures were not entirely overwhelming is appar-
2 ent in the sustained style of the interconnecting buildings
‘ of the Stone Shops. The visual effects are not disruptive,

inasmuch as the groupings are distinct and each gives expres-
sion of unity and accord in its stylistic period.

Evaluation

The foregoing commentary provides the basis for inclu-
sion of the buildings noted in the Inventory of Cultural Re-
sources of Rock Island Arsenal. The portions dealing with
chronology and the notion of a Grand Arsenal also provide a
basis for evaluation. Buildings and related architectural
features listed in the Inventory (Table I) are determined
historically significant in the area of architecture because
together they embody the distinctive characteristics of a ma-
jor historic period complemented by a subsequent subsidiary
one. The ensembles manifest not only notable architectural
qualities but also represent significant aspects associated
with the histor_ of an important branch of the United States
Army.

It should be noted that the authorship of the designs
for the buildings remains undetermined, Aallusion is made to
Rodman's "plans” and to certain traditions in architectural
planning, while the architectural styles represent concurrent
practices of the respective historic periods. While the
identity of the person(s) responsible for the creation of the
selected buildings and related features is certainly desir-
able, the high quality they represent is more important.

The significance of the buildings as ensembles has been
‘ stressed because some key components, such as the Stone
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Shops, seem to embody a mode of thought which encompassed a
concept of a whole, rather than an assemblage of discrete or
even dissociated parts. Though separated by sizeable dis-
i tances in some cases, the concept was, from the beginning,
¥ carried out in terms of the totality: through the entry
3 gates, up the long avenue into the industrial complex, and
across the landscaped zone to the quarters area.
In the case of the Stone Shops especially, uniformity of
plan for the ten buildings provided a module which was varied
; in elevation to establish a symmetrical balance in the ar-
< rangement of the several buildings almost as if two military
E squads were addressing one another. The handling of the
7 style has already been characterized as austere, but that
g does not detract from the need to recognize also a simplicity
which lends to uniformity in the aggregate of buildings with-
out a sense of wearisome repetition. Despite perceivable,
though not glaring, differences in color, texture and even
the cut of the stone as one goes from building to building, a
sense of integrated agreeable uniformity prevails. The ar-
ticulation of design of the several parts of each building
with the projecting porticoes, the repeating pilasters, and
: the unifying horizontal band delineating the top of the sec-
g ond story contributes to a sense of harmony and simplicity.
4 The storehouse building and the barracks building (Buildings
56 and 90) follow suit, although they are different in plan,
and the latter introduces a round window in a principal gable
and a variant in the fenestration of the third story. The
significance also derives from the masterful handling and ad-
aptation of classical architectural vocabulary which draws on
the Greek Revival without a pedestrian application of formu-
las.

The quarters, as already noted, offer several notable
contrasts, but t = most striking is the turning away from
uniformity and regjularity to an informal or irregular dispo-
sition of each building relative to the others. 1In Quarters
1, 2, 3 and 4 similarity of exterior stone, grill-like enclo-
sures of the porches, and a generally prevailing Italianate
character tie the buildings together.

There is no doubt that Quarters 1 stands out as the vil-
la of the preeminent resident of the area, while the others
are set apart by their comparative modesty as houses of sub-
ordinates. The distinction avoids the outright relationship
of mastery vis-a-vis subservience by the informal and pictur-
esque placement of the building in the natural setting with
an open view over the Mississippi River.

Quarters 6 and 7, as noted, are later and depart into
turn-of-the-century eclectic styles. The great interspace

between these buildings and their earlier countarparts in the {
‘ landscape setting avoids any sense of discord. Stylistically
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speaking, these two buildings display a mannerist appropria-
tion of styles. These are most notable in that each has in-
corporated into its configuration a skyline of mansard roof,
while the porches display classically derived colonettes, and
each has bracketed eaves. Other aspects of their design,
such as their overall form and skylines, and differences in
materials as well as particulars of style, result in a rather
distinct difference in character between the two. Hence, the
term eclectic, which distinguishes these buildings from their
Italianate counterparts to the west,

Their eclectic qualities correspond to residential ar~
chitecture designed during the period around the beginnings
of the 20th century. Quarters 6 is an especially fine exam-~
ple of an attempt at virtuosity with the curving slope of the
gable ends and the dark contrast of the eaves against the
light color of the masonry. While Quarters 7 is less unique
than Quarters 6, it is a fine representative of the large
turn-of-the-century residence loosely associated with a clas-
sical revival form, and it serves as a good complement to
Quarters 7; together they constitute an agreeable pair of
period pieces.

Similarly, Quarters 2, 3 and 4 are less distinguished
accomplishments of grandeur than Quarters 1, but as is the
case with Quarters 7, they serve as a fine complement to form
an agreeable set of buildings. The six quarters buildings
are thus significant as a group although exemplifying two
separate historic periods, and comprise an important area in
the proposed historic district.

The link between the Stone Shops and the quarters area,
represented by Area IV, has already been noted as a linkage
composed of the bridge and reservoir. These and some 1land
flanking them represent important aspects of the planning and
architectural thinking mentioned earlier. The fancifulness
of the bridge {(over a former artificial lake), brought to-
gether with the utilitarian consideration of water supply, is
important in terms of planning; these were originally inte-
grated architectural’y into the total concept.

Area V also consists primarily of a landscape link be-
tween the Clock Tower and the Arsenal proper. The disposi-
tion of the quarters buildings, with the integration of the
reservoir and bridge as a 1link to th~ formally arranged
shops, focuses consideration on the landscape as an architec-
turally related feature. This same consideration must neces-
sarily be considered with Rodman Avenue, The gates and
guardhouse at the west end provide the formal and crnamental
entry onto the vista originally enframed by trees leading to
the arsenal proper.
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The open progression through this approaching vista has
been encroached upon by later construction. Buildings 331,
332, 333, and 334 (not included as significant in this re-
port) have been appropriately set low so that the interrup-
tion is not immediate, but picks up with emphasis on the
south, almost one third of the way up the avenue, with Build-
ing 208. Then follows Building 210, which is a little higher
in profile and siting. Massiveness and greater height follow
on either side of the avenue with Buildings 220 and 350, and
continue on the north side with Building 390. In view of
functional demands for expanded industrial and administrative
activity, the disposition of these 20th century buildings
(208, 210, 220, 350 and 390) has to some degree preserved
Rodman Avenue as a planning feature. At the same time the
comparative plainness of their design reflects a new mode of
architectural thought, and is related to the expanded activ-
ity of production of more sophisticated weaponry on a larger
scale.

Planning For Preservation

One of the reasons for the present Cultural Resources
Inventory and Evaluation of the Rock Island Arsenal is to
provide a basis for developing a long-range program of pro-
tection of the identified cultural resources. Such a program
should include consideration of preservation and restoration
based on further study. Much of the intrusion and alteration
that has taken place in the interest of immediate short-range
economic exigencies is reversible, so that the historic char-
acter that is still evident cannot only be sustained but en-
hanced by judicious long~term planning.
This report addresses exterior architectural features of
the resources identified. This avoids conflict between con-
tinued adaptive utilization of the extant facilities and
preservation of the outstanding historic character of the en-
sembles. This is not to say, however, that such interior
features as remain in either minute or grosser form should
not receive attention in terms of preservation and restora-
; tion planning. For example, among the Stone Shops, an

indication of what the shop spaces were 1like remains in
1 Building 68. The spaces themselves are not only open, but so
1 also are the cast iron stairways exposed into those spaces.
3 The columnar supports, as well as the iron beams with brick
, arches, are plainly visible to provide abundant evidence of
. what the originals were like. 1In all the 19th century shop
i buildings, the truss work supporting the roofs remains un-

adulterated and sound. In Building 68, however, the thor-
( oughness of the extant original can exemplify the continuity

of concept and execution, especially since this was among the
last to be completed.
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For the Stone Shop area, therefore, enough of the orig-
inal remains intact to provide a basis for a historic under-
standing of what has been adapted to new use., As far as the
exteriors are concerned, enough remains so that the entire
ensemble could eventually be restored to its original appear-
ance and remain functionally appropriate to current use.
Buildings 56, 90, 225 and 360, along with the smoke stack ap-
purtenant to Building 65 (Fig. 63), can similarly be planned
for inclusion in future long~term preservation/ restoration
planning. The Stone Shops complex provides the keynote for
preservation/restoration planning, and the residential build-
ings identified here 1in this report can similarly be :
incorporated into a long-range planning program. The same j
applies to the Clock Tower. !

In the Stone Shops complex and in the residential area
(Areas II and III in the proposed historic district) there
are some incidental features which should be identified and
included in preservation planning. These are generally con- :
sidered under the rubric "street furniture.” For the pur-
poses of this report, these would include iron fences and
gates (namely, in front of Quarters 1 facing onto Gillespie
Avenue, and at the entry to Rodman Avenue in proximity to
building 321), as well as utility poles found in the Stone
Shop area. The latter are of reinforced concrete with coarse
exposed aggregate, an example of which is found at the south-
west corner of East and North Avenues.

The stone bridge (structure 47, in Area IV) and the po- {
lice station (Building 321, in Area V) may each be in the
realm of ornamental accessories. Both, however, deserve at-
tention in the preservation planning owing to their impor-
tance in the overall plan as it was developed to enhance
grandness and picturesqueness.

Comments in the foregoing narrative have established the
problematic nature of the reservoir (structure 53). Its
preservation as part of the proposed historic district may
also be a matter of difficulty. Flagler documents its early
history, and should demolition be considered an early option,
this structure should be recorded by drawings and photo-
graphs.

Of the buildings, structures, and "street furniture” in
the proposed historic district, the six remaining buildings
to be considered are the 20th-century buildings in Area V
along with the length of Rodman Avenue which runs through it.
In view of earlier commentary which draws upon the importance
of landscape and its incorporation into developing the plan
for the arsenal, any planning for preservation of the
historic character of Rock 1Island Arsenal should avoid
additional encroachment upon the boulevard-like character of
( Rodman Avenue., Preservation, if not restoration, of greenway

and trees should be encouraged along either side of the
length of the avenue. Facades of buildings facing or visible
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Fig. 62 Administration Building (Building 390), facing northeast.

Fig. 63 Building 65 (Boilerhouse Smoke Stack for Shop f),
facing northwest.
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from Rodman Avenue should be maintained in such agreeability
of style as currently exists.

Conclusion

This report is a summary derived from examination of the
buildings and structures along with documents (especially
plans and drawings) at the Rock Island Arsenal. Qualities
governed by a rather concise definition of architecture have
been stressed here for two essential reasons. The first is
to focus on that aspect of the Rock Island Arsenal which
gives prominence to its unified expression with its strong
association of time and place by virtue of its visible physi-
cal design. The second is not so much to draw arbitrary
lines between areas of interpretation and their respective
disciplines, as to provide focus for other, not unrelated,
aspects of the arsenal which, like the architecture, contrib-
ute to the overall historic-archeological significance of ex-
tant features composing the cultural resources of the island
of Rock Island. The definition of architecture encompassed
not only stylistic features of individual entities, but also
the relationship of particular entities one to another within
the context and setting of natural resources upon which these
were built.

It is understood that the scope of work for this inven-
tory and evaluation did not call for recommendations on pres-
ervation and/or restoration of resources identified. Such
comments are for that reason general in nature, and are meant
to help explain the importance of the resources identified as
parts of what has been determined an integral historic dis-
trict. Although its components are discernible as five dis-
tinct areas, an attempt has been made here to show the rela-
tionship of one to another and the value of sustaining or
perhaps in the future restoring features which will enhance
that integral historic relationship of the several parts from
an architectural point of view.

Evaluation of Buildings/Structures Qutside the
Proposed Historic District

Every structure on the island of Rock Island was visual-
ly examined for its potential identification as historically
significant in the area of architecture. Document searches
also sought to identify such extant buildings or structures
that might be considered significant on the basis of either
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architecture or other areas recognized by the National Regis-
ter of Historic Places. Several structures outside the pro-
posed historic district claim attention. These were enumer-
ated in the Introduction with the comment that compelling
reasons for including them under architectural significance
were lacking.

Because of their demonstrated historic value, they are
individually identified and discussed here.

1. The closed lumber shed (Building 138).

This (Fig. 64) structure was built in 1886 and ap-
parently used for curing wood used in the manufacture of
small arms. As with others in this group (Buildings 160
and 280), it is an ancillary structure which remains
from the major historic period of development for Rock
Island Arsenal. 1Its historic merit should be recognized
largely due to its good condition and reflection of its
period of construction (although architecturally speak-
ing it would at best be a marginal structure). Because
of utilitarian function and the simplicity of its de-
sign, it is also marginally associative with architec-
tural quality or uniqueness. Were it more integrally
related to the ensemble of the Stone Shops, it would
certainly have been listed as a structure contributing
in a secondary or supporting way to the character of the
whole of the ensemble.

As part of a multiple resource nomination, it
should be included as associative with the function of 1
arms production of the period. The building should not
be removed or altered without detailed architectural and
photographic recording and accompanying documentary
research.

2. The hydro-electric plant (Building 160).

Power for the Arsenal shops was a concern from the
very beginning, and the Army was forced to compete with
local utilities and industries for hydro-electric
rights. Problems of developing hydro-electric resources
for the island were discussed, for example, in a letter
of 18 August 1866 from Rodman to Dyer (see Appendix I1I,
this report).

This structure (Fig. 65) was built in two distinct-
ly discernible periods: the original in 1881, followed
by an addition in 1918 at the time of conversion from
mechanical power to electrical generating capacity. The
original portion in particular, associated with the pro-
vision of mechanical power to the shops, certainly has
historic associative value,. Architecturally speaking,
it can be considered little more than marginal, largely
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Fig. 64 Ciosed Lumber Shed (Building 138), northeast.

Fig. 65 Government Hydro-Electric Plant (ca. 1904),

Rock Island Arsenal. File Photography,
ARRCOM Historical Office, Rock Island.
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because the integrity of the architectural character had
been sacrificed with the 1918 addition. The latter is
hardly sympathetic to the former in architectural detail
as well as with regard to massing and proportions.

As part of a multiple resource nomination, it
should be included as associative with the provision of
power (first mechanical and then electrical) to the ar-
senal.

This power plant was among the first to be con-
structed on the Mississippi River and represents an im-
portant era of national energy development. It should
not be removed without appropriate architectural and
photographic recording and intense documentary research.
Because of unrecorded details about the construction and
engineering of the early workings of the power dam, it
should be dismantled in such a way that internal details
can be studied with precision.

3. The Fort Armstrong Site and Blockhouse Replica
(Building 200)

There is no evidence in the case of either the site
or the replica associated with Fort Armstrong (Fig. 39)
which warrants consideration of either as historically
. significant from the standpoint of architecture. Repli-
cated buildings do not gqualify for nomination to the
National Register of Historic Places except in extraord-
inary cases. The green area around the blockhouse rep-
lica should be maintained undisturbed because of evi-
dence of prehistoric remains (See Freitag Site). Other
parts of the area possibly containing remains of the
fort have been severely disturbed by construction of the
maintenance facilities and the railroad embankment.

4. The magazine (Building 280).

All that was said with regard to the closed lumber
shed (Building 138) applies to the magazine (Building
280; Fig. 66). As part of a multiple resource nomina-
tion, therefore, it should be included as associative
with storage of munitions for its period and after. It
was built in 1879,

5. The pivot bridge from the Island to Davenport, Iowa
(structure 320).

Cesmliois L oad wieeeliee b . m: -

{ As in the case of the hydro-electric plant, and
similarly with the reservoir, the pivot bridge (Fig. 39)
has significant associative value. Here particularly,
the crossing of the Mississippi River, considering the
span and accommodation to navigation, calls attention to
this 1link to the trans-Mississippi settlement of
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Fig. 67

Clock Tower, Ft. Armstrong replica
(left margin, center) and government
pivot bridge, Rock Island. ARRCOM
Historical Office, Rock Island, File
Photograph.
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Davenport. When compared to the Eads Bridge (completed
1874) crossing the Mississippi at St. Louis, however,
it is difficult to find strong evidence in the area of
architectural significance. The foregoing remark does
not in any way detract from historic significance of the
bridge. .

6. The Davenport House (Building 346)

This is perhaps the most problematic of the six
structures considered here. The Davenport House (Fig.
68), as an example of a vernacular building type carry-
ing with it some classical architectural detail, is far
from unique even for its early date (1833). Neverthe-
less, there are some unknowns which merit further
study.

Historic photographs show that the Davenport House
was formerly comprised of what now remains, plus wings
flanking the main body of the house (Fig. 38) (the lat-
ter being no longer extant). Moreover, the part which
now remains underwent restoration around 1906. In view
of its associative value with George Davenport, the
house takes on historic significance. Further study to
determine the history of the entire building (including
the demolished wings), the accuracy of the 1906 restora-
tion, and related facts could provide information for a
restoration which would enhance the significance of this
building in the area of architecture as an example of
its type for the period in the region. Currently, the
absence of the wings (along with insufficient knowledge
about their date and styles as related to the extant
portion of the house) constitute too great an encroach-
ment on the building to warrant citation for architec-
tural merit. Historical accounts also suggest Daven-
port's trading post (Fig. 69) was in the immediate
area.
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Fig. 68 Davenport House in 1981 (Building 346), facing northeast.

Fig. 69 Davenport's trading post, Rock Island, no date.
File Photograph, ARRCOM Historical Office, Rock
Island.
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CONCLUSIONS

The project summarized in this report d4id not include
investigation of either the entire area or archival
resources relevant to Rock Island Arsenal; a totally reli-
able prehistoric and historic inventory remains to be
completed. Only those areas indicated in Figures 25 and 26
can be considered evaluated for future alteration at this
time. All of the standing architectural structures have
been examined. Summary findings are presented in this
report and in the revised National Register nomir “ion
forms.

Field survey and testing did not reveal the dens. of
archeological remains, either prehistoric or historic hat
had been anticipated. Our survey and testing interval - -~e
such that small scatters may have been missed, but . : e
areas we covered we are certain no significant remain. are
present. Informant interviews, documentary records, and

walkover of much of the rest of the Island suggests that no
such concentrations are likely to be encountered. The most
notable exception is the Confederate prison camp, where such
intensive activities +took place that a more thorough and
extensive survey should be carried out to test the prelimi-
nary conclusions of no archeological remains in that area.
Only two strictly archeological sites, the Indian Mounds
group and surrounding area and the Freitag Site are included
in the National Register nomination forms.

Quantities of archival material remain to be
researched, both on the Island and in repositories such as
the National Archives. Patterns of keeping copies, answer-
ing 1letters, and curating plans, maps, and drawings were
erratic throughout the history of the Island. It is appar-
ent from our research that both ends of the Arsenal Island
to Washington continuum must be explored to more completely
develop the history of the lIsland, especially the Civil War
period. Large quantities of relevant documents and photo-
graphs appear to remain in private hands; documentation we
examined is strong on technical and military details of the
Island's history, and much weaker on the lives and activ-
ities of the various groups of Indians, squatters, settlers,
military, workers, and prisoners who populated the Island
from time to time and interacted with varying intensity with
the surrounding urban setting.

The architectural data, in conjunction with their
historical background, sustain the contention that Arsenal
Island is an extremely important historical location in the
Midwest. The descriptions of the 38 buildings considered
significant for National Register nomination, and the
historic district which encompasses them, is testimony to
this historic importance. That eight additional buildings
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and sites outside the designated historic district are also
considered significant for National Register nomination
speaks as well to the high concentration of historic
resources on, and associated with, Rock Island Arsenal.

Both the paucity of archeological remains and the char-
acter of the historical remains are in part due to the fact
that this was an island for at least a significant part of
the year until recently. This has had the dual effect of
limiting spatial distributions of structures and of influ-
encing reutilization of space and destru~tion of some
previously existing cultural elements. The.e is no doubt
that the military presence also has affected the preserva-
tion of the cultural record on the Island.

Historical archeology is a combination of documentary
and archeological research; where standing structures are
involved, architectural history is also an integral compo-
nent, Each constituent element in the research will assume
varied importance with each project, relevant to the avail-~
able data Dbase. In the case of Arsenal Island, the
documentary research and architectural studies seem to
provide the strongest data bases, with archeology relegated
to a relatively minor role until documentary studies reach a
point where clearly defined problems require attention. The
military presence for over a century has been both a factor
for and against preservation of cultural resources. Mili-
tary practices of keeping surface areas clean of debri_ and
clearing no longer useful structures are seen as a major
factor in not locating anticipated historic structures. On
the other hand, government and military practices have
resulted in preservation of more buildings on the Island
than might have occurred in an unprotected context. It is
hoped that this report will establish the basis for a
balance of these conflicting activities in the future.
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RECOMMENDATIONS

The substantive recommendations are made in the
National Register nomination forms that are part of this
report. However, a number of procedural recommendations
evolve naturally from the research we have conducted.

This project was the first case in which the Facilities
Engineering Office and the Historical Office at Rock Island
Arsenal have had to cooperatively confront the problem of
historic preservation on the Island. One group builds and
the other saves, and in the limited space of the Island
these interests must necessarily come into conflict from
time to time.

Because the cultural resources on the 1Island are
substantial and significant, continued preservation of
essential buildings, districts, and areas must be coordi-
nated in a much more structured fashion than appears to have
been the case to the present. 1In large part, this seems to
stem from a lack of knowledge by both parties of pertinent
Army regulations and procedures which govern both historic
preservation and construction/maintenance activities.

Evaluation of the significance of specific structures
and other cultural features can only be achieved and
improved through ongoing research into architectural,
historical, and other cultural features. Only with a
clear~-cut understanding of historical importance can deci-
sions about alteration and demolition of existing structures
be made and be considered as part of long-range planning
processes.

There seems to be no reason why closer cooperation
between the engineering and historical elements and
increased support of historical research to lay the ground-
work for well-informed decisions cannot serve both the need
for historic preservation of the 1Island's past and the
industrial needs of the present.
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